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S COMPLAINT

Plaintiff, Thor Halvorssen (“Halvorssen™) asserts claims against the Defendants for
damages he has incurred as a result of their conspiracy to retaliate against him for reporting
crimes to federal authorities. The goal of the retaliation was to get Halvorssen fired as President
of the Human Rights Foundation (“the Foundation”). Because the Defendants have a history of
prior retaliations through Fusion GPS, this case is brought pursuant to the Racketeer Influenced

and Corrupt Organizations Act, 18 U.S.C. §§1961-1968 (“RICO”).

L. Introduction
1. Halvorssen is a prominent human rights advocate. He has a track record as a fierce
campaigner in his advocacy of transparency in government and against corruption. He
is an outspoken and continuous critic of corruption in his native Venezuela and has
been interviewed hundreds of times on the subject.
2. Additionally, he has lectured widely and participated in multiple documentary
projects about human rights violations and corruption cases in Venezuela, the largest

of which was the illicit business of Derwick Associates (“Derwick™), a Venezuelan




0.

company engaged in the construction of electric power plants. Derwick is owned by
Francisco D’ Agostino-Casado (1’ Agostino™), Leopoldo Alejandro Betancourt-
Lopez (“Betancourt™), Francisco Antonio Convit-Gurueeaga (“Convit”), and Pedro
Jose Trebbau-Lopez (“Trebbau™ and collectively they are referred to as “the
Venezuelans™),

After Halvorssen reported that the Venezuelans had committed numerous federal
crimes in conjunction with Derwick, they retaliated against him through Fusion GPS,
Gilenn Simpson and Peter Fritsch, Fusion GPS’s principals, were hired to produce a
false dossier and a media campaign (including a social media campaign) to depict
Halvorssen as a pedophile, heroin addict, and embezzler of the Foundation’s money.
That effort has cost Halvorssen millions of dotlars, He now sues for damages under
RICO.

I}, Parties, Jurisdiction, and Venue

The Court has jurisdiction as a federal question pursuant to R1CO’s ¢ivil damages
provision, 18 U.8.C. §1964(¢) and 28 1).8.C. §1331,
The Court has general jurisdiction over Simpson and Fritsch as ULS, ¢itizens and
because of their participation in the conspiracy which was initiated and carried out in
this district.
The Court has specilic jurisdiction over the Venezuclans based on their significant
contacts with the U.8,, detailed below, and the fact that this case arises from at feast
one of those contacts, the conspiracy with Fusion GPS,

a D'Agostino: He owng a home in Southampton, New York, where he

formed the conspiracy to retaliate against Halvorssen in 2015, He also



belongs to a Manhasset golf club, rents a second home in Manhattan,
and has been represented since 2015 by the New York law firm
Susman Godfrey LLP and a New York public relations firm, Kekst
and Co. He has spent most of the last several years vesiding in New
York. His wife is a tawful permanent resident alien of the U.S. and at
least one of their children is a U, citizen. All of their children attend
schools in New York. Fe has a U8, ¢ellphone number.

Betancourt: He regularly travels to the U.S, to conduct business. He is
the beneficial owner of a $12 million penthouse apartment at the
famed Olympic Tower on Fifth Avenue in Manhattan, [n 2014,
Betancourt retained Adam Kaulmann of the New York {irm Lewis
Baach Kaufmann Middlemiss PLLC as public relations counsel, and
that representation is ongoing, He is also the bencficial owner of an
apartment in Sunny [sles Beach, Florida. In 2017 Betancourt formed
and incorporated a business entity in the U.S., Hawkers USA. In
October of 2017, Betancourt became a client of Washington, D.C.
lobbyist Brian Ballard, Betancourt was represented by the New York
law [1rm, Lankler, Siffert, and Woll, from 2015-2017.

Trebbau: He is the beneficial owner of a condominium in Sunny Isles
Beach, Florida, where he spends a significant amount of time and
maintains a car which is titled by the State of Florida at that address.
Trebbau was issued a marriage license by the State of Florida, and his

wife is a lawful permanent resident alien of the U.S. He has a Florida



drivers’ license and an F.ALA, pilot’s license. He was represented by
the New York law firm Fox, Rothschitd LLP from 2015-2017.

d. Convit: He owns a home in Hollywood, Florida, He also has multiple
bank accounts in the United States and frequently travels to the U.S. to
conduct his business affairs. Since January 2014, Convit has also been
represented by Adam Kaufmann of the New York law firm Lewis
Baach Kaufmann Middlemiss PLELC.

Venue is proper pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §§1965(a) and (b) as well as 28 U.8.C.
§1391(b) because part of the scheme to retaliate against Halvorssen was carricd out
from D" Agostino’s home in Southampton, New York. All of the other defendants
joined in this conspiracy at D’ Agostino’s urging, Therefore, they can all be sued in
this action. There is no other district where venue could be obtained over all
defendants, All defendants should be tried together to avoid the possibility of

inconsistent verdicts and to conscrve judicial resources,

(11, The Venezuelans Pay Kickbacks for Derwick's
Contracts to Build Venczuclan Power Plants

Derwick has received billions of dollars in the last eight years through overbilling the
government of Venezuela for the construction of electric power plants, While it is
generally understood that Venezuela is rife with corruption, there has been nothing
quite like Derwick. [t began with little capital and no engineering prowess, hardly an
enterprise o be tasked with building massive power plants to modernize Venezuela’s
aging electric grid, Its principals were in their twenties and early thirties, lacked any
expericnce in the energy sector, had not distinguished themselves academically nor in
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any prior business, not in any aspect of their short lives. All they had was an idea and
the right connections to corrupt government officials,

Derwick’s business model relies upon two corrupt measures: kickbacks to
government officials for the power plant contracts and gross overbilling to the

government, as much as 400% above costs.

. Once Derwick has been paid by the government on a particular contract it kicks back

large sums of money to Venezuelan government oftficials, including Vice Minister of

Bleetric Development Javier Alvarado Ochoa, for their part in obtaining it.!

. Halvorssen began to investigate reports of these kickbacks in 2011, It progressed o

the point where he was able to have telephone calls and a face-to-face meeting with
D*Agosting in 2013, In this meeting D' Agostino acknowledged being an owner of
Derwick and stated that the owners paid kickbacks disguised as “consulting fees” to
Venezuelan public officials. To D' Agostino this was simply a cost of doing business.
“In many places it’s more legalized, in others less legalized,” he said matter-of-factly.

“You always have to pay.”

. Thereafter, Halvorssen uncovered many more details about Derwick’s procurement of

equipment, how the overbilling is disguised, how its ill-gotten profits are laundered

and how the Venezuelans have flaunted their enormous wealth in this country,

' One kickback was arranged by Betancourt and Trebbau. The money was paid via JP Morgan in New York
to the Banca Privada D' Andorra, in the tiny nation off Andorra, which has move lax cutrency tules, Another
kickback deal was aranged by Clonvit and D' Agostino with a $25,000,000 bribe being paid to another
government official, Nervis Villabos, in 2012, The construction contracts were not obtained theough any
open bidding process, Upon sceuring the grossly inllated contracts, Derwick then subeontracted the work to
Missouri-based ProEnergy Services. Beyond the construction, Derwick also procured the turbines and
equipment for the power plants, These were sourced second-hand through a subcontractor and then sold as
new at grossly inflated prices. It is estimated the total value of all the contracts was $2.9 biltion,
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V.  Halvorssen Reported the Bribes, Kickbacks and
Money Laundering to U.8. Government Officials
Halvorssen has spent his 20-year carcer promoting peacetul resolution of world issues
through such initiatives as the Oslo Freedom Forum and through the Foundation’s
core programs, which focus on freedom of expression, the plight o political
prisonets, exposing the enablers of dictatorships, human rights education, and the

disruption of authoritarian regimes like Cuba and North Korea.

. Halvorssen seeks to uncover corruption around the world, as corruption is the engine

behind most human rights violations. As such, he has exposed corruption in
Kazakhstan, Equatorial Guinea, Angola, and Syria. Halvorssen is also a native of
Venczuela and has taken a strong intercest in corruption and human rights violations in
that country. He has testified before the British Parliament, the Canadian Senate, the
United Nations Fluman Rights Council and the U.S, Senate. His wrilings have been
published in the Atlantic, Foreign Policy, the New York Times, the Wall Street
Journal, and the Washington Post. He is a frequent commentator on the subject of

corruption on ABC, CBS, CNN, Fox News, MSNBC, and NBC,

- In July 2015, Halvorssen became a shareholder of Harvest Natural Resources, [ne,

(“Marvest™), a Texas-based encrgy company. He did so to engage in anti-cortuption
shareholder activism. In August 2015, he wrote to Harvest’s board of directors to
bring to their attention that a candidate to the board of directors, )’ Agostino, had
played a role in Derwick's bribery and warned of the possibility that )’ Agostino was
a liability to the future of Harvest. Halvorssen met with the C.E.O. and several senior
officers of Harvest, including the Harvest general counsel, to express his concerns,

Additionally, Halvorssen attended the annual sharchotder meeting in Houston and
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18,

19.

made his views about 12’ Agostino known to several key sharcholders of Harvest. The
letter is attached as Exhibit A,

Subsequently, and at Halvorssen’s urging, Harvest engaged a prominent outside law
firm, King & Spaulding LLP, to carry out an internal investigation. The lead attorney
in the investigation was Michael J. Biles, head of the firm’s Foreign Corrupt Practices
Act (“FCPA™) group. Biles interviewed Halvorssen over the telephone on scveral
occasions and in person for five hours, reviewed extensive evidence over a period of
several weeks, and concluded that Halvorssen was a “credible witness.” As a result of
Halvorssen's efforts, ID* Agostino was forced to resign from the Harvest board of

directors several weeks afler having been elected.

. Hlarvest subscquently filed the necessary documents with the Securities and Exchange

Commission to announce D’Agostino’s sudden resignation,
Halvorssen’s letter stated 1" Agostino had confessed as follows:

D’ Agostino has told me that he and his associates, through Derwick, have
made bribery payments to Venezuelan officials in connection with the
award of certain government energy contracts there. Beyond what Mr.

[’ Agostino has told me, the Derwick companies stand accused of
engaging in illegalitics in Venczuela in the construction of power plants,
and of siphoning more than one bitlion doltars intended to build the power
plants into bank accounts in Andorra, Canada, Panama, Spain, and the
United States. According to a story in the Wall Strect Journal, the
enterprise operating as “Derwick™ is currently under investigation by the
United States Department of Justice and by the Manhattan District
Attorney’s Office, Derwick is also under investigation by Sepblac, Spain’s
Financial Intelligence Unit and Anti-Money Laundering Supervisory
Authority. See Ex. A,

The letter further accused D*Agostino and the other Venezuelans of violating
numerous federal taws including the FCPA and money laundering statutes. See Ex.

A.

7



20. Halvorssen copied various federal law enforcement officials: Preet Bharara, U.S.

Attorney’s Office for the Southern District of New York; Andrew M. Calamari,
Entorcement Division, Sccurities and Exchange Commission; Leslie R, Caldwell,
Criminal Divigion, U.8, Department of Justice; Amelia Cottrell, Iinforcement
Division, Securities and Exchange Commission; Peter Edge, Homeland Sceurity
Investigations, U.S. Immigration and Customs Enforcement; Floward Fischer, Senior
Trial Counsel, Securitics and Exchange Commission; Jennifer Shasky Calvery,
Financial Crimes Enforcement Network, U.S. Department of the Treasury; and
Wendy B. Tepperman, Enforcement Division, Securities and Exchange Commission,

Copies of the letter were sent to them by mail. See Ex. A.

. Halvorssen also provided a copy of the lfetter to D*Agostino as a shareholder and

investor of Iarvest,

. Since then various jurisdictions have acknowledged ongoing criminal inquiries into

Derwick’s alleged crimes: the U8, Attorney’s Office for the Southern District of
New York, banking authorities in Switzerland, and now Spain’s government, an

investigation which was reported just days ago in Spain’s £l Mundo newspaper.

23. These recent inquiries vindicate Halvorssen’s charges made in 2015,

V. The Venezuelans Hire Fusion GPS to Retaliate
Against Halvorssen by Creating and Publishing a
Vile “Profile” of Him

24. In August 2015, D’ Agostino discussed Halvorssen’s letter with the other Venezuelany
&2

by telephone from his home in Southampton, New York. Incensed about the Flarvest



25,

20,

Natural Resources fiasco and afraid Halvorssen would continue his efforts to expose
the Derwick bribes, he insisted they take immediate action.

In a series of calls over a few days they agreed to engage Fusion GPS, which had
been working for Derwick for more than one year, to undertake an effort to smear
Halvorssen. Simpson and Fritsch recommended that Fusion GPS compile a dossicr
on Halvorssen which would consist not only of his public writings, but also negative
information from individuals who had an axe to grind against him, such as the
Venezuelan government and state-run enterprises in other nations he had criticized as
President of the Foundation.

Then, Simpson and Fritsch promised to pass along the dossier to friendly journalists
who would use the negative information, even if the information came from hostile
sources and not for attribution, into a profile of Halvorssen for wide publication in the
media and particularly on the internet. And they turther agreed to use search engine
optimization techniques so that the profile would appear at or near the top of any
internet searches for Halvorssen or the Foundation., They promised the Venezuelans
that the protite would clearly implicate Halvorssen in unethical and illegal conduct as
I'resident of the Foundation, even though none of them possessed actual knowledge
of such conduct, Simpson and I'ritsch assured them such allegations would be

produced.

. Thus, the result, they all hoped, would be that the Foundation would have to fire

Halvorssen, That would effectively kil two birds with one stone, Halvorssen would
be discredited, and the Foundation, if it survived, would be toath to talk about

Derwick ever again,
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30.

D' Agostino was absolutely giddy about what he had set in motion, He told a
colleague, Alessandro Bazzoni, that he was going to “destroy” Halvorssen, whom he

detested more than any other individual because of what he had exposed.

29. They all agreed to the plan, and the Venezuelans paid Fusion GPS to compile the

dossicr. Simpson personally oversaw the effort, as he does with all the firm’s
research jobs.

Fusion GPS encountered difficulty in compiling derogatory information on
Halvorssen, Nobody would provide such information for attribution because the
allegations Fusion GPS wanted to publicize were false. So “sources” were promised
anonymity and encouraged to exaggerate and speculate. Fusion GPS either found
someone who invented a story that Halvorssen regularly used heroin, had been in
rehab, and was high at Foundation events, or it invented the story out of whole cloth.
And it did the same thing with allegations that Falvorssen embezzled money from the

Foundation and had sex with minors in hotel rooms paid or by the Foundation.

. In the end, Simpson and Fritsch were satisfied that their dossier contained ample

allegations so that the Foundation would find it necessary to fire Halvorssen.

- Simpson and Fritsch turned the dossier over to the Venezuelans, who loved it, and to

a longtime friend and associate, Washington journalist Kenneth M, Silverstein, They
asked Sitverstein it he would turn the dossicr into a devastating profile of Halvorssen
and publish it online. Silverstein, an avowed supporter of the Chavez regime, likes 1o
advance the interests of Fusion GPS” clients in his reporting, He agreed to do the

profile. Sometimes Simpson gives him news tips involving his clicnts,
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35.

Silverstein is adept at turning a Fusion GPS dossier consisting of innuendo and
unattributed charges into a juicy headline for clickbait,  Yet, he too tried to get
corroboration from other sources to back up the scurrilous allegations of iliegal drug
use, pedophilia, and embezziement in the Fusion GPS dossier. He failed to do so, but

published the story anyway without a single source being named.

. Silverstein’s “protile™ about Halvorssen, which Simpson, the Venezuelans, and

Fritsch approved prior to publication, first appeared on the internet on September 28,
2015, in a British journalism site, Byline.com, The article was entitled: “Living High
--Very High-- Off Human Rights: ‘Thor Halvorssen, Neocon Bagman Who Runs
Bogus Human Rights Foundation,” (The word “high” was doubly scandalous as it
athuded to both embezziement and drug use.)

Byline’s founder and editor, Danicl Tudor, was appalled. He told Halvorssen: “I find
it a spectacularly unfair article... and [ personally think the right thing to do is to take

it down.” He did so, after which he profusely apologized.

. Undaunted, Silverstein went elsewhere. He changed the title to: “Mect Thor

Halvorssen, Neocon Scam Artist Who Heads Bogus Human Rights Foundation™ an
published it on Shawdowproof.com on September 28, 2015, See Ex. B. The article
stated Halvorssen was “trashed on drugs at human rights events,” regulatly commits
financial crimes through the Foundation to maintain a “sweet life,” including the
alleged ownership of properties in New York, Iforida, and California. It further stated
that Halvorssen is a pedophile (and “brags” about it) and did not actually graduate

from the University of Pennsylvania. [t further stated that Halvorssen had been



37.

38.

40,

41.

42,

43,

romantically involved with Peter Thiel and was his kept man, Al of these charges
are false, but if true would be grounds for termination by the Foundation,

Silverstein, with Simpson and Fritsch’s approval, then amplified the false allegations
on Facebook. Silverstein added specificity and detail to the false allegations including
that Halvorssen had been to a drug rehabilitation facility in Tennessee for the
treatment of “heroing” and that his stay had been financed by Peter Thiel. These are
all False statements.

One Silverstein post stated Halvorssen “used {the Foundation’s] money to pay for

very inappropriate conduct.”  See Ex, B, September 24, 2015,

. He repeated this the following day refetring to Halvorssen’s “abuse of human rights

cash and advocacy.” See Ex. B, September 25, 2015,

Two days later he again accused Halvorssen of “using his group’s money to fund
chronic drug abuse and underage sex.” See Ex. B, September 27, 2015,

And on October 1, 2015 he made the outrageous and damaging assertion that
Falvorssen was a heroin addict and had been in rehab in Tennessee. See EX. B,
October |, 2015,

The next day he accused Malvorssen of having a “strange predilection for teenagers,”
See Bx. B, October 2, 20185,

The sole purpose of the Shadowproof article and Facebook posts, as Sitverstein knew
from his friends Simpson and Fritsch, who bad solicited him for the Derwick
engagement, was to retaliate against Halvorssen for eeporting the Venezuelans’

crimes by getting him fired from the Foundation,



44, Fritsch and Simpson then engaged in “scarch engine optimization™ in order to ensurc

46,

47.

48,

that the Silverstein article would appear on the first page of any internet search for
Halvorssen and the Foundation. The objective was to pressure the Foundation to fire
Halvorssen.

Fritsch also met with Wall Street Journal reporter Jose De Cordoba and encouraged
him to use the Fusion GPS dossicr and the Silverstein article in any veporting about
the allegations against Derwick and the Venezuctans.

Silverstein has continued to attack Halvorssen online. On Qctober 26, 2017, he stated
in his blog that HMalvorssen lied to the U.S. Scnate. The same post also attacked
Wiltiam Browder as a “fraud.” (More details regarding Browder will be stated
below.)

For their part in ¢xeeuting the conspiracy, [’ Agostino, Convit, Betancourt, and
Trebbau provided a copy of the Fusion GPS dossier to members of the Venezuelan
government, including Diosdado Cabello (currently the second most powerful man in
the Venczuelan goverament and on the list of U.S.-sanctioned officials) and Henry
Ramos-Allup (the notoriousty corrupt member of the Venezuelan legislature who is
)’ Agosting’s brother-in-taw), Both Cabello and Ramos-Allup used the contents of
the Fusion GPS dossicr to inveigh against Halvorssen on Venezuclan television and
in Venezuelan media,

This conspiracy to retaliate against Malvorssen for his report to federal law
enforcement officials about the Derwick bribes and moncey laundering violated 18
U.S.C. §§1513(e) and (), which states, in pertinent part:

Whoever knowingly, with the intent to retaliate, takes any action harmful
to any person, including interference with the lawful employment or
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livelihood of any person, for providing to a law enforcement officer any

teuthful information relating to the commission or possible commission of

any Federal offense, shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more

than 10 years, or both,

Whoever conspires to commit any offense under this section shall

be subjeet to the same penaltics as those preseribed for the offense

the commission of which was the object of the conspiracy.
Although the Foundation did not fire Halvorssen, the conspiracy was successful in
harming Halvorssen’s ability to earn income. Beyond lost speaking fecs, a
prospective contract he had with a New York-based venture capital firm, Social
Impact Capital, was canceled once the fiem’s principals read the Silverstein article.
Halvorssen was to have become a partner in the firm with a guaranteed annual salary
and a fixed percentage of the firm’s returns. The firm’s sole reason for its decision not
to do business with Halvorssen was the Silverstein article, which it found online, This
has cost Halvorssen at feast $5 million in lost income.,

VL. Simpson and Fritsch’s Pattern of Retaliating
Against Other Whistleblowers
a.  Retaliation Against Willtam Browder

Mr. Browder is an American-born British citizen with a successful carcer as an
investment banker based in London. Fle is the principal of Hermitage Capital
Management (“Hermitage™), which for many years was the largest foreign investor in
Rusgia. He hag become a world renowned anti-corruption campaigner and was

similarly targeted by Fusion GPS,
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52.

53.

55.

57.

In 2008, Browder's Moscow-based tax specialist, Sergei Magnitsky, discovered a
$230 million tax fraud scheme carried out by corrupt Russian government ofticials
and their cronies in the private sector (“the Russians™) against the Russian treasury.
Magnitsky filed a detailed criminal complaint with seven different Russian
government agencies and testified to Russian prosecutors about the scam. Days later,
Magnitsky was arrested and turned over to the very officials and investigators he had
accused of fraud. He was subsequently charged with having carried out the fraud he
exposed, He was placed in pre-trial detention in a Moscow prison.

In November of 2009, Magnitsky died in prison after being beaten to death by prison

guards,

. Thereafter, Browder began a worldwide lobbying campaign for the enactment of

sanctions against the Russians who were responsible for the murder, known as the
Magnitsky Act. It was enacted by the (L8, Congress and signed into law by President
Obama in 2012, Subsequent laws, also sanctioning corrupt Russian government
officials, have been passed in several European countries.

As part of his activities in the campaign “Justice for Sergel,” Browder continued to

focus media and law enforcement attention on the theft of the $230 million,

. One of the entities used to launder a part of the stolen funds was Prevezon Holdings

Ltd. (“Prevezon™), which, among other things, invested the stolen funds in Manhattan
real estate.

In 2013, Browder reported the money laundering to special agent Todd Hyman of the
LLS. Department of Homeland Sccurity, Immigrations and Customs Enforcement

(ICE). ICE found Browder's report to be credible and, based largely on hig report and



the documents he provided, began a civil forfeiture proceeding against Prevezon
Holdings Ltd. and affiliated entities.

58, Meanwhile, Browder’s campaign for the Magnitsky Act earned worldwide acclaim.

59, Shortly atter the U.S. government filed the action, Prevezon’s Russian lawyer Natalya
Veselnitskaya, hired Fusion GPS Lo serve as public relations counsel for the Russian
government ofticials impacted by the Prevezon matter. (it should be noted that in
April of 2018 Vesclnitskaya publicly acknowledged her ties to the government of
Viadimir Putin by admitting that she was a government agent.)

60. Veselnitskaya also ordered Simpson and Fritsch to investigaie Browder, assemble a
dossier on him, and use the dossicr to retaliate against him for his reporting
Prevezon's crimes to the U8, authorities. The goal of the retaliation was to cause
Hermitage’s investors to withdraw their investments, which would devastate the Fund
and harm Browder by costing him significant income and his job. Simpson and
Fritsch accepted.

61. Simpson disseminated the information in this dossier in journalistic circles in 2015
and 2016 to harm Browder as detailed above.

62. Simpson told journalists that Browder was carrying out a con by claiming that
Hermitage had been falsely used to defraud the Russian government. According to
Simpson, it was Browder who had carried out a tax fraud. Simpson also told several
Journalists that Browder had been “in contempt of congress™ by carrying out a
fraudulent campaign on behalf of Sergel Magnitsky. The scurrilous information was
spread to journalists for the objectives of harming Hermitage and Browder, as stated

above,
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64,

65.

66.

Simpson provided the Fusion GPS dossicr about Browder to a former member of the
Russian intelligence services, Rinat Akhmetshin, who subsequently provided the
information to Russia’s chief prosecutor with the aim of abetting further prosccutions
of Browder and forcing the collapse of Hermitage.
Simpson and Fritsch were also involved in the promotion of an anti-Browder
documentary, Magnitsky Act: Behind the Seenes, which was prominently screened at
the Newseum in Washington, D.C. in 2016 and in many other influential venues
around the world with the goal of harming Browder by falscly accusing him of being
a criminal and a tax cheat, Again, the goal of the scheme, was to get Hermitage’s
investors to realize that Browder is a liability,
The civil forfeiture case against Prevezon Holdings resulted in 2 $5.9 million
settlement of the money laundering allegations, vindicating Browder’s report of
crimes by the Russians,

b. Retaliation Against Aleksander Boyd
Boyd is a Venczuelan-born Spanish citizen and a prominent journalist reporting on
corruption and human rights violations in that country and elsewhere, He has been
widely published and quoted all over the world as an expert in corruption. Boyd has
focused heavily on the Venezuelans and Derwick, reporting their kickbacks for
energy contracts and their other financial illegal activitics in the oil and gas space as
well as their financial shenanigans in the United States. Boyd is the single most
significant adversary Derwick has encountered in the media. Boyd published and

widely reported his findings to U.S, government officials, including the U8,
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68.

69,

70.

Department of State, the U.S. Treasury Department, the Federal Bureau of
Investigation, and the U.S. Department of Momeland Security on a weekly basis.
Boyd reported to U.S. officials all manner of documents, turbine proposals, invoices
from Derwick to the Venezuelan government, and even purchase orders from
Venezuela's state-owned oil monopoly, PDVSA, to Derwick. Boyd continued to
provide scores of leaked documents from inside Derwick and its affiliaicd companies.
In 2014, the Venezuelans retained Fusion GPS to smear Boyd because they knew
U.8. Jaw enforcement officials were reviewing information about Derwick Associates
provided by Boyd.

Fritsch, with Simpson’s approval, traveled to Caracas to meet with the Venezuelans
on several occasions, including a visit that took place in July of 2014, Fritsch stayed
at the Hotel Lido, across the strect from the Derwick offices of the Venezuelans,
Fritsch met with the Venezuelans at the Derwick offices in the Kyra building of the
Campo Alegre neighborhood of Caracas. During this meeting, Fritsch discussed the
campaign against Boyd. The Venczuclans subsequently communicated with Fritsch
after his return to the United States and approved the effort to retaliate against Boyd.
Their goal was to discredit his work so that he could no longer obtain online
donations from the public to continue his investigations and blogs.

Simpson and Fritsch then produced a “dossier” that would serve as a template for
smear articles that would ruin Boyd’s tivelihood. They disseminated this dossier to
their journalistic friends. As in the case of Halvorssen, the dossier was also provided
to members of the Venezuelan government including D’ Agostino brother-in-law, the

politician Menry Ramos-Allup, who promptly wrote vicious smears of Boyd in the
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Venezuclan media referring to him as a drug trafficker, car thief] rapist, and wanted
criminal.

71. Dozens of blogs and websites and videos were published, almost overnight, that
contained false police files and false arrest recovds suggesting Boyd was a criminal,
bogus police mugshot photogtaphs, and narratives which called him a pedophile, a
drug addict, car thief, rapist, and embezzler, Many of these blogs were in Spanish,
The allegations in these articles bear an uncanny similarity to the accusations made
against Halvorssen, both in terms of their horrific nature as well as their falsity.

72. Additionally, a part of the retaliation campaign involved the burglary of Boyd's
London home on November 17, 2014, Three professionals broke into Boyd’s central
London apartment. The three men ignored other valuables and restricted themselves
to taking Boyd’s two laptop computers so that he could no longer pursue his career as
a blogeer. Since then, Convit has been publishing private information about Boyd
obtained from his laptops. Convit’s sole motive appears to harm Boyd’s credibility as
a blogger and destroy his livelihood. On information and beliet, Simpson and Fritsch
knew about and approved of the burglary as a part of the retaliation campaign to stop
and punish Boyd's whistleblowing against the Venezuelans.

c. A Pattern of Retaliation Against Whistleblowers

73. To summarize, Simpson and Fritsch have been engaged in a pattern of violations of
18 UL.S.C. §1513(e) and () against Halvorssen, Browder, and Boyd from 2014 to
October 2017, Several were committed againgt Halvorssen from 2015 to 2017,

74. These violations were all undertaken at the behest of Fusion GPS clients after these

three whistleblowers had reported alleged crimes to federal faw enforcement officials.
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77.

78.

79.

&0,

The Venezuelans joined this conspiracy in 2014 in order to harm Boyd and then

Halvorssen,

COUNT L THE DEFENDANTS HAVE VIOLATED 18 U.8.C. §1962(d)

. Bach Defendant is a “person” pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1961(3).

Bean LLC ts a Delaware limited Hability company doing business as Fusion GPS at
1700 Connecticut Av., Suite 400, Washington, 1).C. 1t has clients throughout the
nation and the world. [t affects interstate commerce and is a RICO enterprise pursuant
to 18 U.8.C. §1961(4).

Simpson is the majority owner of Fusion GPS as well as an officer of the company.
[ritsch is also an owner and ofticer of the company. They work closely together in
the company business,

By agrecing with each other to conduct the three retaliation schemes detailed above,
Simpson and Fritsch have formed a conspiracy to commit an ongoing pattern of
racketeering beginning in 2014, because 18 ULS.C, §1961(1)B) of RICO incorporates
18 LLS.C. §1513 as a type of “racketeering activity.,”

12 Agostino, Betancourt, Trebbau, and Convit joined the conspiracy when they hired
Fusion GPS, through Simpson and Fritsch, to retaliate against Boyd and Halvorssen,
silverstein also joined the conspiracy to retaliate against Halvorssen, though he is not
sued.

The related Scheme against Boyd was carried out by disseminating the false
information about him on the internet through social media websites and the burglary
of his apartment. The scheme against Halvorssen was carried out by baving

Silverstein write a hit piece about Halvorssen to harm him, disseminating it widely on
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82.

83.

84,

the internet, and following it up with salacious Facebook and Twitter posts, Simpson
and Fritsch oversaw every aspect of these similar smears. And when Silverstein
agreed to write the article, he knew that Simpson and Fritsch were going to use it to
retaliate against Halvorssen for his whistleblowing to federal officials.

The Defendants’ agreement to violate 18 U.S.C. §§1513(e) and (f) is a conspiracy to
violate 18 1L8.C. §1962(¢). Thus, each Defendant has violated 18 U.S.C. §1962(d),
which states, in pertinent part: “it shall be unlawful for any person to conspire to
violate any of the provisions of subsection... (¢) of this section.”

This is a pattern of racketeering activity, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1961(5). It occurred
from 2014, when Simpson and Fritsch began retaliating against Browder and Boyd,
through Fusion GPS, and continued to October 2017, the last known attack by co-
congpirator Silverstein on Halvorssen and Browder. indeed, smearing opponents of
its clients seems to be Fusion GPS’ regular way of doing business.

Halvorssen has been divectly and proximately injured by one of the acts in this
pattern, the publication of the article about him by co-conspirator Silverstein at the
behest of the other defendants. This has cost Halvorssen at least $5 million in lost
income, an injury to his “business or property™ within the meaning of 18 U.8.C.
§1964(¢).

WHEREFORE, pursuant to §1964(¢), Mr, Halvorssen demands judgment against the
Defendants for three times his damages, at least $15 million, plus pre-judgment
interest, taxable costs, and reasonable attorney’s fees against each and every

Defendant joint and severally, He also demands an injunction against the Defendants

from further RICO violations.



85. PlaintifT also requests a jury trial.

Dated: May 10, 2018
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By: /s/ Javier El-hage

Carlos Javier El-Hage Guaristi
| West 8t., Suite 3501

New York, N.Y. 10004

(917) 514-9895
Javier@EHagepllc.com
E.DN.Y. Bar #CGO71H9

Howard W, l'oster

foster PC

150 'N. Wacker Dr., Suite 2150
Chicago, 1L 60606

(312) 726-1600

HFoster@F osterpe.com

Pro Hac Vice Motion pending

Attorneys for Plaintifl Thor Halvorssen
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THOR HALVORSSEN
431 NE 52 TERRAGE. MIAMI, FL 33137

Thursday, August 6, 2015
VIA 1.8.P.8. and Electronic Mail

Board ot Directors

Iarvest Natural Resourees, [ne,
1177 Enclave Parkway, Suite 300
Houston, Texas 77077

Re: Venezuelan national Francisco D’Agostino, CT Energia, and CT Energy
Gentlemen:

[ writc as a sharcholder of Harvest Natural Resources about the upcoming shareholder vote
on the proposed transaction (the “CT BEnergy Transaction™) between Harvest Natural Resources (the
“Company”) and CT Energy Holdings SRL (“CT Energy™), which was announced on June 19, 2015,
The vote appears to concern Francisco D' Agostino Casado (“Mr. D' Agostino™), a Venczuelan
national who was recently nominated to our Company’s Board of Directors. | urge the Board to
reconsider its recommendation that the shareholders approve the CT Energy Transaction, and urge
the Board to undertake a thorough and independent investigation of Mr. D’ Agostino before any
shareholder vote on the CT Encrgy Transaction,

The Board describes the proposed CT Energy Transaction as involving (i) the purchasc by
CT Energy, a Venezuelan-ltalian consortium, of certain convertible and non-convertible notes, and a
warrant to purchase 34,070,820 shares of the Company’s common stock subject to a stock price
trigger; and (it) a strategic partnership with CT Encegy and CT Energia Holding, Ltd, (“CT
Energia™), an “international energy trading firm,” through which CT Encrgia will oversee the
Company’s Venezuela operations,

But what is CT Encrgia — who are they and what do they represent? What is their
experience? What is the origin of the funds used in these transactions? These questions should be
answered fully by the Board before any shareholder vote on the CT Energy Transaction, especiatly
in light of the Board’s recommendation that the sharcholders approve the transaction and the
appointment of Mr, D’ Agostino who is described by our Company chairman as a “well-known
senior executive with deep knowledge of Venezuela.”

Of note, Mr. D’ Agostino has personally informed me that he is a shareholder and owner of a
Barbados company named “Derwick Oil and Gas,” which operates in Venczuela, Mr. D’ Agostino
also informed me that he is also sharcholder of several related businesses operating under variations
of the name “Derwick.” Mr. D'Agostino has told me that he and his associates, through Derwick,
have made bribery payments to Venezuelan officials in connection with the award of certain
government energy contracts there,

Beyond what Mr, 12" Agostino has told me, the Derwick companies stand accused of
engaging in illegalities in Venezuela in the construction of power plants, and of siphoning more than
one bittion dotlars intended to build the power plants into bank accounts in Andorra, Canada,
ranama, Spain, and the United States. According to a story in the Wall Streef Journal, the enterprise
operating as “Derwick™ is currently under investigation by the United States Department of Justice
and by the Manhattan District Attorney’s Office. Derwick is also under investigation by Sepblac,
Spain’s Financial [ntefligence Unit and Anti-Money Laundering Supervisory Authority. [n addition,



Harvest Natural Resources
Thursday, August 6, 2015
Page 2

according to reporting by the Wall Street Journal, Mr, I’ Agostino is a named defendant in a lawsuit
brought by former State Department official (and Ambassador to Venezuela) Otto J. Reich alleging
corruption in Vengzuela,

Given that our Company must obviously abide by the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (the
“ECPA™) and that violations of the FCPA could impose very significant fines and other penalties,
including criminal penalties, on the Company, it would appear shortsighted and financially perilous
for the Company and its sharcholders to permit Mr, 1’ Agostino to serve on our Company’s Board of
Dircctors, absent a full vetting of him. In light of the fact that Mr, 1)’ Agostino and his company
Dayco served as CT Energy’s financial advisor on the CT Energy Transaction, and his prior
admissions to me regarding illcgal payments to Venezuelan officials in connection with prior energy
contracts awarded to Derwick, it is not beyond the realm of possibility that Mr. D*Agostino has
already acted improperly in connection with the CT Energy Transaction. The Board should
undertake a searching inguiry identifying the Venezuelan officials whose approval was or will be
required for the CT Energy Transaction, and reviewing the course of interactions between such
officials on the one hand, and Mr. D’ Agostino, C'T Energy, or their agents on the other,

Company Director Qswaldo Cisneros, who you say knows Venezuela, should be asked to
vouch for Mr. D’ Agostino’s probity and honesty and should disclose whether or not he is aware of
the multiple scandals involving Mr. D’ Agostino’s Derwick companies. [n addition, Mr. Cisneros
should reveal if he is aware of Mr, 1’ Agostino’s business dealings on behalf of Derwick, or any
other improper conduct by Mr, 1D’ Agostine in connection with his business dealings and currency
exchange transactions in Venczuela, As a Company director, Mr. Cisneros owes our Company
transparency and full disclosure.

[ behieve it would be in the best interests of all sharcholders that the Company should carry
out an independent investigation o determine whether the CT Energy Transaction may expose the
Company to unacceptable risk to its business and reputation, and whether Francisco D’ Agostino is
fit to serve on the board. Company sharcholders will hold you accountable for any destruction in
value that results from your inaction on this matter,

Very truly,

Thor Halvorssen

ce. Preet Bharara, (.S, Attorney’s Office for the Southern District of New York
Andrew M, Calamari, Enforcement Division, Securities and FExchange Commission
Lestie R, Caldwell, Criminal Division, U8, Department of Justice
Amelia Cottretl, Enforcement Division, Securities and Exchange Commission
Peter Edge, Homeland Security [nvestigations, U8, Immigration and Customs Enforeement
Howard Fischer, Senior Trial Counsel, Securities and Exchange Commission
Jennifer Shasky Calvery, Financial Crimes Enforcement Network, ULS. Department of the Treasury
Wendy B. Tepperman, Enforcement Division, Securities and Exchange Commission
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[Note: This story was posted earlier today at Byline.com, but was pulled after Thor Halvorssen

complained — thank you, Thor! — through his attorney. Caving to a degenerate sociopath will only
embolden him, so | am disappointed that Byline.com pulled the story. Byline.com does not pay me, |
raise money from my readers at its site. You can learn more about me and support my work by clicking
on this link.]

With backing from his filthy rich, right-wing Venezuelan famity and help from a credulous American press
corps, Thor Halvorssen has become one of the best-known human rights advocates in the United States
and internationally, The New York Times has said he “champions the underdog and the powerless” while
Buzzfeed raves that he “possesses a burning desire to right the countless injustices of this world ... and
he coes not care if those injustices are being committed by the ‘right-wing’ or ‘left-wing’ regimes.”

In his spare time, the gallivanting Halvorssen runs the Oslo Freedom Forum, which he describes on his
LinkedIn page as the “TED of freedom fighting.” (Presumably that is meant to be a good thing, though
personally I’d rather watch paint dry on a horse’s ass then attend a TED event, though | deeply regret
missing Sarah Silverman’s talk.) He also heads something called the Moving Picture Institute (MP1), which
suggests Halvorssen has artistic talent.

It’s quite a dashing reputation, but it’s all a myth. “Thor’s only interest is in self-hagiography,” one
source said of Halvorrsen. “He’s a joke.”

httpa://shadowproof,com/2015/09/28/meet-thor-halvorssan-neocon-scame-artist-who-heads-bogus-human-rights-foundation/ 2112
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This principled champion of the downtrodden lives a life of extreme luxury and peopte who know him
well described him to me as a “slippery little prick,” a “sociopath” and a “freak.” Halvorssen is said to
take Human Growth Hormone supptements and has paid in advance to have his body cryogenicatly

froveen.,

A regular on cable news shows, Halvorssen has residences in multiple American states, including a lavish
apartment in midtown Manhattan and a palatial estate in Hollywood. Meanwhile, he trats the globe
making passionate but empty pronouncements on human rights. Just last week his group, the New York-
hased Human Rights Foundation, issued a report, “A Call to Action on the Women, Peace, and Security
Agenda,” (Which is precisely as boring and pointless as it sounds, based on skimming the first
paragraph.)

In regard to his moviemaking, Hatvorssen, according to this IMDb profile, is a producer and actor
“known” for fitms such as “The Singing Revolution” and “Hammer & Tickle.” But he has no artistic vision
or smarts. One person in the movie industry told me that the MPI’s modus operandi was to take money
from filmmakers to promote their work, but a quid pro quo was that Halvorssen be given a producer’s
credit, which is a hugely valuable commodity in Hollywood.

That’s a massive conflict-of-interest: Halvorssen could (and did) take money to promote bad movies and
would refuse to promote good movies if the filmmakers wouldn’t buy him off with a producer’s credit.
“Halvorssen uses the MPI to glorify himself and to get rich,” this person said. “If you refuse to go along
he turns nasty and vindictive.”

In regard to his human rights advocacy, Halvorssen is a right-wing troglodyte who generally attacks
official “enemies” of the United States, or comes up with moronic campaigns — like denouncing Urban
Outfitters for selling T-shirts with the image of Che Guevera. (Urban Outfitters caved; please visit
thechestore.com.) For example, he opposes the North Korean dictatorship - now that takes courage!!!!
------ by floating balloons filted with America propaganda into the country, which does absolutely zero to
promote democracy in Pyongyang bui gats Halvorssen into the Voice of America, (For more on his
fraudulent North Korea work, sec this CounterPunch article.)

All this makes Halvorssen a useful tool and idiot of the U.S. government. During the Bush years the State
Department lobbied hard (but unsuccessfully) to get consultative status for his human rights group at
the United Nations, according to this Wikileaked cabtle.

Halvorssen is extremely shady about who funds his work but much of it comes from right-wing
foundations, He also gets cash from his family, which is part of the rancid old oligarchy that ran
Venezuela until the now deceased Hugo Chavez was democratically elected in 1999 and put an end to
centuries of Spanish colonialism and white-dominated misrule. (Incidentally Hatvorssen’s true last name
is Malvorssen Mendoza but he is so Euro-identified that he doesn’t even use the latier on his group’s
wahsite, apparently so he can try to pass for Norwegian.)

https://shadowproof.com/2015/09/28/meet-thor-halvorssan-neocon-scam~artist-who-haads-bogus-human-rights-foundation/ 32
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White he raises much of his money from his right-wing feltow travelers, he also preys on the vanity of
dimwitted liberal bitlionaires in Silicon Valley, like Google founder and Obama supporter Sergey Brin.
Meanwhile, he tries to hide his financial tracks — and reduce his taxes - by setting up shell companies
to run businesses that can’t be traced to him, a well-placed source told me. At least one of his shell
companies is registered in Florida.

I’m told that for years Halvorssen was a business partner with Charles Johnson — who the Washington
Post has called one of the most famous trolls in the history of the Internet — in an opposition research
company. Earlier this year Johnson, an eccentric libertarian provocateur, was permanently suspended
from Twitter after trying to raise money to “take out” a civil rights activist named DeRay McKesson.
Johnson declined comment for this story.

One of Halvorssen’s alleged specialties is falsely editing Wikipedia pages and inserting bogus charges to
smear his clients’ enemies. And on top of all this, multiple sources have told me that Halvorssen has
been repeatedly trashed on drugs at human rights and other political events, and that he publicly brags
about having sex with teenagers. (Let me emphasize, Halvorssen declined comment about these and
atmost all other charges made in this story.)

Before going further let me happily confess that | have loved Hugo Chavez since 1993, when | traveled to
Venezuela after he had been imprisoned following an unsuccessful coup d’etat the previous year.
Everyone shoutd listen to the amazing speech he gave after the coup failed, in which he took
responsibility for the uprising and said that he was calling off the overthrow of the government “for
now.” And to anyone dumb enough to trust American media coverage of Chavez and his successor,
Nicolds Maduro, you are a serious idiot.

Halvorssen is especially dishonest and delusional when it comes to Venezuela. He, not coincidentally, is
a direct descendant of the country’s first president, Cristobal Mendoza, and his family is one of the most.
powerful in Venezuela. The clan has historical interests that include construction, paper mills, banking
and insurance.

His father, Thor Halvorssen Mellum, was also a one-time CIA informant and served under Carlos Andres
Perez, who was impeached for corruption. But Perez is best known for ordering in 1989 the murder of
hundreds if not thousands of people who protested a sharp hike in bus fares and other neoliberal
austerity moeasures prescribed by the best and the whitest in the U.5. government and the International
Monetary Fund.

Halvorssen portrays his parents as “freedom fighters,” especially his now dead father, but it’s hard to
trust anything he says because he is so fundamentally dishonest. it reminds me of what Mary Mctarthy
once saic of Liltlan Hellman, “[Elvery word she writes is a lie, including ‘and’ and ‘the.” And anyone
who served under the murderous, thieving Perez, in whatever capacity, is no freedom fighter.

Thor Jr.’s story is that Thor Sr. was heroically battling the Medellin Cartel. | have my doubts. (Also,
apropos of cocaine trafficking, the Netflix series “Narcos” is entertaining, but it’s American propaganda

nttps://shadowproof.com/2015/09/28/mest-thor-halvorssen-neocon-scam-artist-who-heads-bogus-human-rights-foundation/ 4112
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and by the end of the first episode | was rooting enthusiastically for Pablo Escobar vs, the DEA.) In any
case, by the time he turned thirty-four Thor Sr. was already at “the helm of telephone giant CANTV,”
which was “considered one of the most prestigious political appointment in the country’s economic
sector,” according to this article, and that would make him, by definition, a propaganda specialist.

According to his LinkedIn profile, Halvorssen attended the Bryanston School, a British prep school, He
then - again, according to his Linkedin profile - got both his B.A. and Masters at the University of
Pennsylvania between 1993 and 1997, an impressive feat in the unlikely event that it’s true.

Halvorssen launched the Human Rights Foundation in 2005, with the stated goal of ensuring “that
freedom is both preserved and promoted.” The group, which has an address at the Empire State
Building, took in about $5 million combined in 2012 and 2013, according to this non-profit fiting to the
IRS. The filing also shows that the group invests in financial derivatives, though it doesn’t say how much.

Halvorssen gets paid about $90,000, which is pretty modest though it’s not like he needs the money.
And, also according to the filing, an undisclosed share of his business and residential rent is partly
covered by the Human Rights Foundation.

So who’s paying for Halvorssen’s sweet life? “In the spirit of transparency, we choose to pubtish the
narses of our donors,” says the group’s website. “However, we respect any request from donors who
wish to remain private and we do not publish those names.”

But there’s nothing transparent about this funding. The tist provided on the website is alphabetized by
the first name of the donor, which makes it difficult to figure out, and there are no amounts listed by
individual donors’ names. So, for example, there’s no way to know how much Halvorssen donates from
his own pocket or how much comes from the Harry Halvorssen Fund or from the Foundation for
Democracy in Russia or, to take one more example, from the Thiet Foundation.

Peter Thiel, who at one point was an intimate companion of Halvorssen’s, controls the latter. Me’s also a
hedge fund manager and co-founder of PayPal and Palantir, which, according to this article, “has
created a data mining system used extensively by law enforcement agencies and security companies.”
There is atso a single listing for “Anonymous,” which means the Human Rights Foundation might have
one secret donor or it might have one hundred, there’s simply no way of knowing. (Note: This article by
Max Blumenthal reveals that the Muman Rights Foundation has also taken huge sums of money from
many right-wing foundations.)

Several months back, in his only comment to me for this article other than a few lunatic proctamations
on Facebook (hefore he mysteriously Unfriended me), Halvorssen admitted that he took money from
Oscar Mendoza, a right-wing Venezuelan banker and relative. He also admitted that he onty disclosed
the names of Mendoza and other donors after the government of Norway, which funds him as well,
demanded that he be more transparent.,

hitps://shadowproof.com/2015/09/28/meet-thor-halvorssen-neocon-scam-artist-who-heads-bogus-human-rights-foundation/ 5/12
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Last week, Halvorssen wrote an article in the Daily Beast — which is basically a neo-con Pravda, but a
wee bit more subtle — in which he moaned that his cousin, Leopoldo Lopez, had been unfairly thrown in
jail by the Venezuelan government. Lopez probably didn’t get a fair trial — this is what Amnesty
International has to say — but frankly the only reason | care is that it attracts negative attention for the
Venezuelan government. Lopez is a clown $o why not just let him out so he can fade into the obscurity
he so richly deserves?

And curiousty, people who know Halvorssen have told me he never talked about Lopez and his other
Venezuelan-based relatives, and that he never expressed pride in the country. His love for his homeland
is apparently most clearly worn on his sleeve when he can make phony, emotional pteas about their
alleged suffering that lead suckers to fund his various enterprises.

Frankly, and this is a minor digression, | wish Chavez had been more like the great Union General Witliam
Sherman who during the Civil War literally torched the South, killed countless enemy soldiers and
civilians, and thereby broke the back of the Confederacy. But the democratically minded Chavez was
more moderate - | guess there's a time and a place for everything — and, sadly, didn’t summarily
execute senior members of Venezuela’s old white-dominated elite, who view the country’s non-white
citizens in much the same way that Southern slaveholders viewed Africans as chattel.

Anyway, | honestly don’t care who people steep with or what drugs they do, but | do care if they
misrepresent themselves and if they are stone-cold hypocrites, And that describes Halvorssen to a T.
Halvorssen should be honest about who funds him, stop abusing his non-profits, and make it easier to
keep track of his interests.

He should also stop attacking people for doing the same things he does. For example, he invites his neo-
con cronies to the fluff-filled Oslo Freedom Forum — and his non-profit pays the bills for at least some of
them - ancl then they write nice things about him.

But recently, the Human Rights Foundation went after the Argentine football star Lionel Messi, for going
on what Halvorrsen claimed was a richly-remunerated junket to the African nation of Gabon. Messi flatly
denies it — and even though | detest Messi because he choked in the final of last year’s World Cup and in
my view is a loser, and because | love Neymar and Brazilian football — | trust him more than | trust
Halvorssen,

Oh yeah, a final disclosure: | really and truly don’t like Halvorssen. He is, to cite multiple sources, and |
am paraphrasing here, a dirty little Uar.
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